No. S184583

In The Supreme Court Of The State Of California

AMERICAN NURSES ASSOCIATION et al.,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

vs.

JACK O'CONNELL, as Superintendent of Public

Instruction, etc., et al.,

Defendants and Appellants,

SUPREME COURT

FILED

AMERICAN DIABETES ASSOCIATION,

Intervener and Appellant.

DEC 22 2010

Frederick K. Onirich Clerk

Deputy

**OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

On Review From A Published Decision Affirming A Judgment Including  
Issuance of A Peremptory Writ of Mandate  
Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, Appeal No. C061150

On Appeal From A Judgment On A Complaint And A Petition For Writ Of Mandate

## **I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504) [29 U.S.C. § 794], Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act (the Americans with Disabilities Act) [42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.], and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (the IDEA) [20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seq.], are major federal civil-rights statutes. As pertinent here, they grant students with disabilities, including diabetes, a right to a free appropriate public education and related health care services, including the administration of insulin.

Subject to several exceptions, the Nursing Practice Act (NPA) [Bus. & Prof. Code § 2700 et seq.] prohibits any person without a license as a registered nurse from practicing nursing.

For its part, section 49423 of the Education Code authorizes both school nurses, who must be licensed as registered nurses, and other school personnel, who need not possess any license, to assist any student with medication, provided that certain conditions are met.

In pertinent part, [a] Legal Advisory [issued by the California Department of Education (CDE)] states that, when a school nurse or other licensed person is unavailable to administer insulin to a student with diabetes, unlicensed school personnel may do so, provided that they have volunteered and have been adequately trained, in order to implement the student's rights under the federal civil-rights statutes.

Against this background, the issues on review are these:

1. Does the NPA prohibit unlicensed persons from administering medication to anyone, including prohibiting unlicensed school personnel from administering insulin to students with diabetes?
2. Does Education Code section 49423 authorize unlicensed school personnel to administer insulin to students with diabetes?
3. If the first issue is resolved affirmatively and the second negatively, is the resulting prohibition in California law against unlicensed school personnel's administration of insulin to students with diabetes preempted by the federal civil-rights statutes, at least when a school nurse or other licensed person is unavailable?

## **II. INTRODUCTION**

As this Court recognized in granting review, this case presents important questions of law on which depend the health and safety and the educational opportunities of many California public school children with diabetes. To thrive in school—indeed, to survive—these children need insulin administered to them many times during the many hours of the school day. Given the severe shortage of school nurses, the consequences of any prohibition in California law against unlicensed school personnel administering insulin would be devastating. But California law in fact authorizes such personnel to administer insulin. Experts in the care of children with diabetes agree

that such a practice is safe, and indeed recommend it, whenever a school nurse or other unlicensed person is unavailable.

Moreover, Section 504, the Americans with Disabilities Act, and the IDEA grant students with diabetes a right to health care services, including the administration of insulin, in order to enjoy their underlying right to a free appropriate public education. The public education in question must be not only *appropriate* but also *free*, allowing students with diabetes to take advantage of educational opportunities as fully as other students and at no cost to themselves and their families.

There is no dispute that the thousands of students with diabetes in California public schools need the administration of insulin to remain safe and healthy, and that they have the right to receive it under Section 504, the Americans with Disabilities Act, and the IDEA. What is disputed is *whether* such students will receive the administration of insulin when a school nurse or other licensed person is unavailable. The resolution of this dispute will determine whether these students will receive what these federal statutes entitle them to or whether they will have to take their chances with a disease that, when not properly managed, is life-threatening.

The practical realities of this dispute threaten the health and safety of thousands of public school children with diabetes. Fortunately, however, this Court need not dwell on these realities. Properly construed, California law poses no obstacle to students with

diabetes as they seek to remain safe and healthy and to take full advantage of educational opportunities. The NPA does not prohibit unlicensed persons from administering medication categorically, and certainly does not prohibit unlicensed school personnel from administering insulin to students with diabetes. In fact, Education Code section 49423 authorizes such personnel to administer insulin to such students. And any prohibition in California law against such activity would be preempted by Section 504, the Americans with Disabilities Act, and the IDEA, at least when a school nurse or other licensed person is unavailable.

This Court should so declare and settle these important questions of law once and for all.

### **III. FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

#### **A. Factual Background**

Diabetes is a serious, incurable disease, preventing the body from properly producing or using insulin to convert glucose, a sugar, from food into energy. (3AA/713; 6AA/1415) High blood glucose levels, or hyperglycemia, can result from too little insulin, too much food, or decreased exercise, and can impair cognitive abilities and cause increased thirst, frequent urination, nausea, blurry vision, and fatigue. (3AA/717; 6AA/1428) Untreated hyperglycemia can cause a life-threatening condition called diabetic ketoacidosis, characterized by labored breathing, weakness, confusion, and sometimes

unconsciousness. (3AA/717-18; 6AA/1429) Over time, hyperglycemia leads to serious complications, including heart disease, blindness, kidney failure, and amputation. (6AA/1428) Low blood glucose levels, or hypoglycemia, can result from too much insulin, too little food, or increased exercise, and can also impair cognitive abilities and cause irritability, shakiness, and confusion. (3AA/716-17; 6AA/1426) If not treated promptly, hypoglycemia can cause unconsciousness, seizures, and convulsions, and is life-threatening. (3AA/717; 6AA/1426)

Diabetes must be managed on an individual basis, twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week. (6AA/1419)

Most children with diabetes need insulin to survive. (3AA/714-15; 6AA/1418, 1424) The goal in treating such children is to control blood glucose levels by keeping them within a target range that is determined for each child by his or her physician. (3AA/714-15; 6AA/1424) Proper diabetes management for children generally requires regular monitoring of blood glucose levels and administration of insulin several times each day, including during school hours, to maintain the child's targeted blood glucose level. (6AA/1424) Blood glucose levels are monitored by pricking the skin with a lancet, placing a drop of blood on a test strip, and inserting the strip into a blood glucose meter. (*Ibid.*) Insulin is generally administered by means of: (1) a hypodermic syringe; (2) an insulin pen, a pen-size device fitted with a needle that holds a standardized cartridge of insulin; or (3) an insulin pump, a pager-size computerized device



containing insulin that is continuously attached to the skin and generally worn on a belt or waistband. (6AA/1430-31) When insulin is administered through a hypodermic syringe or an insulin pen, a subcutaneous injection is given just under the skin. (3AA/714) An insulin pump delivers small, steady insulin doses throughout the day and calculates and provides additional insulin doses to cover food consumption when the number of carbohydrates intended to be consumed is entered. (6AA/1431) Some children, particularly older ones, can administer insulin to themselves. (6AA/1418) Other children, particularly younger ones, need insulin administered to them. (6AA/1418)

Diabetes has a profound effect on students in California public schools. (3AA/713, 718-19; 6AA/1410, 1415-19, 1428-29, 1493) More than 6 million students attend almost 10,000 schools in almost 1,400 school districts. (6AA/1493) Approximately 14,000 of these students have diabetes and most need insulin at both predictable and unpredictable times and places in the course of the school day, including on the school site during class and away from the school site on field trips and other school activities. (3AA/713, 718-19; 6AA/1410, 1415-19, 1428-29, 1493) Failing to administer insulin when it is needed increases the risk of both hypoglycemia (if it is administered too early) and hyperglycemia (if it is administered too late), placing the student in immediate danger, making learning more difficult, and increasing the likelihood of complications. (3AA/718-19) Accordingly, to remain safe and healthy and capable of taking full advantage of educational opportunities, the student must receive

insulin whenever he or she needs it, inasmuch as a delay of even a few minutes may impede proper diabetes management and result in unnecessary hypoglycemia or hyperglycemia. (3AA/718-19)

That said, there are only about 2,800 school nurses to care for the 6+ million students in California public schools—constituting only about 1 school nurse for every 2,200 students. (6AA/1494, 1500) Only about 5 percent of schools have a full-time school nurse; about 69 percent have a part-time school nurse; and about 26 percent have no school nurse at all. (6AA/1399) There is, and for the foreseeable future will be, a severe shortage of school nurses. (6AA/1505) In addition, there is, and for the foreseeable future will be, a severe shortage of registered nurses, from whom school nurses are drawn. (*Ibid.*) Such shortages make it more costly to hire school nurses, if they do not prevent it altogether. (*See ibid.*) These costs are prohibitive for many school districts. *See* Sen. Com. on Health and Human Services, Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 1912 (2003-2004 Reg. Sess.) as amended May 3, 2004, at 3-4. For the foreseeable future, they will prove prohibitive for many more. *See* California Department of Education, Budget Crisis Report Card, *available at* <http://www.cde.ca.gov/nr/re/ht/bcrc.asp> (as of Dec. 20, 2010) (noting “ ‘unprecedented fiscal crisis’ ” for California public schools).

Unsurprisingly, there have been numerous failures to administer insulin to students with diabetes because of the unavailability of a school nurse or other licensed person. (3AA/627-

28, 634-42, 669-79, 713, 718-19, 794, 796, 799; 5AA/1149-55, 1191-97, 1199-1211, 1248-56, 1237-46; 6AA/1415, 1428-29)

Such failures have been widespread in Northern California [*see, e.g.*, 3AA/627-28 (Northern California generally); 3AA/634-42 (Turner Elementary School in the Antioch Unified School District in Contra Costa County); 5AA/1191-97, 1248-56 (Greenbrook and Rancho Romero Elementary Schools in the San Ramon Valley Unified School District in Contra Costa County); 5AA/1199-1211 (Haley Durham Elementary School in the Fremont Unified School District in Alameda County)]; in the Central Valley [*see, e.g.*, 3AA/794, 796, 799 (Central Valley generally)]; and in Southern California [*see, e.g.*, 3AA/669-79 (Oak Valley Elementary School in the Buellton Unified School District in Santa Barbara County)].

In addition, such failures have appeared not only in schools in relatively poor school districts [*see, e.g.*, 3AA/634-42 (Turner Elementary School in the Antioch Unified School District in Contra Costa County); 5AA/1199-1211 (Haley Durham Elementary School in the Fremont Unified School District in Alameda County)], but also in schools in relatively affluent school districts [*see, e.g.*, 5AA/1191-97, 1248-56 (Greenbrook and Rancho Romero Elementary Schools in the San Ramon Valley Unified School District in Contra Costa County)].

To ensure that students with diabetes remain safe and healthy and capable of taking full advantage of educational opportunities,

there must be someone constantly available—that is to say, immediately present at the scene or no more than a few minutes away—who can administer insulin at all of the times and places, unpredictable as well as predictable, at which such students may need insulin. (3AA/718-19) School nurses alone cannot meet that need. The reality is that many students need insulin when a school nurse is unavailable. (3AA/624-30; 5AA/1320; 6AA/1526-1680) Even if a school nurse were available, full time, at each school, matters would be no different. A school nurse could not be at two places at once, for example, on the school site during class and away from the school site on field trips and other school activities. Contracting for services by a licensed person other than a school nurse could not fill the gap: Contracting generally requires advance scheduling, which by definition cannot anticipate the unpredictable times and places at which a student may need insulin. (3AA/641, 718-19; 6AA/1428-29)

Unlicensed school personnel can be trained to administer insulin safely. (3AA/720; 4AA/844; 6AA/1647-52, 1667-68) Indeed, unlicensed persons of all backgrounds and ages have routinely been trained to do so. (3AA/720; 4AA/844; 6AA/1647-52) It is the rule that unlicensed persons, not licensed persons, usually administer insulin, and that they can, and do, administer it safely. (3AA/722-23)

In administering insulin to a student with diabetes, any person, whether a school nurse or an unlicensed school employee, first determine the proper dosage. (3AA/722; 6AA/1418, 1486-89) To do so, the person, whether school nurse or unlicensed school employee,

makes a basic calculation in accordance with specific written orders of the student's physician, and does not undertake any nursing assessment. (*Ibid.*) The person, whether school nurse or unlicensed school employee, simply follows the physician's specific written orders. (*Ibid.*)

On these points, there is broad agreement among experts in the care and treatment of persons with diabetes including the United States Department of Education; the United States Department of Health and Human Services and its Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases of the National Institutes of Health; the American Medical Association; the American Academy of Pediatrics; the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists; the American Association of Diabetes Educators; the American Dietetic Association; the Pediatric Endocrine Nurses Society; the Pediatric Endocrine Society; Children with Diabetes; and the Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation. (4AA/817-902, 908-12; 6AA/1652)

The fact is, every day unlicensed persons administer insulin. (3AA/720-23; 4AA/817-902; 6AA/1647, 1649-50) They include persons with diabetes—even most older children. (*Ibid.*) They also include family members of persons with diabetes, their friends, acquaintances, caregivers, and others. (*Ibid.*) Indeed, today, insulin is almost always administered by unlicensed persons. (*Ibid.*) This reality is reflected in California law, which authorizes students as

young as elementary-school age to administer insulin to themselves if they are able to do so. *See* Ed. Code § 49414.5(c).

## **B. Procedural History**

In 2005, the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and several California public school students with diabetes, through their guardians, filed a class action in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California against Jack O’Connell, as Superintendent of Public Instruction, the CDE, and others—*K.C. et al. v. O’Connell et al.*, No. C05-4077 MMC (N.D. Cal.). (MajOpn/3) They claimed that Superintendent O’Connell and the CDE denied students with diabetes their right under, inter alia, Section 504, the Americans with Disabilities Act, and the IDEA, to a free appropriate public education and related health care services, including the administration of insulin, by failing to ensure that they received the administration of insulin when they needed it. (*Ibid.*)

In 2007, the parties entered into a settlement agreement which, among other things, required the CDE to issue a Legal Advisory regarding the rights of students with diabetes. (*Ibid.*) Based on the settlement agreement, the district court dismissed the action. (*Ibid.*)

The CDE proceeded to issue the Legal Advisory. (*Ibid.*) In pertinent part, the Legal Advisory states that, when no school nurse or other licensed person is available to administer insulin to a student with diabetes, “federal law” authorizes a “voluntary school employee

who is unlicensed but who has been adequately trained to administer insulin pursuant to the student's treating physician's orders ...." (5AA/1109; *see* MajOpn/4)

Almost immediately thereafter in 2007, the American Nurses Association and the American Nurses Association/California, which were later joined by the California School Nurses Organization and the California Nurses Association (collectively the Nurses Associations), filed this action in the Sacramento County Superior Court against Superintendent O'Connell and the CDE. (MajOpn/4-5) Among other things, the Nurses Associations claimed that the Legal Advisory's unlicensed-school-personnel provision was invalid because: (1) it was inconsistent with the NPA, which they asserted prohibited unlicensed persons from administering medication categorically; and (2) it was not supported by Education Code section 49423, which they asserted did not authorize unlicensed school personnel to administer insulin to students with diabetes, but at most authorized such personnel to help such students with administering insulin to themselves. (MajOpn/5-6)

The superior court granted ADA leave to intervene and file a complaint in intervention. (*Ibid.*) ADA claimed that the Legal Advisory's unlicensed-school-personnel provision was valid because: (1) it was consistent with the NPA; (2) it was supported by Education Code section 49423; and (3) any prohibition in California law would be preempted by Section 504, the Americans with Disabilities Act, and the IDEA. (*Ibid.*)

In 2008, the superior court declared that the Legal Advisory's unlicensed-school-personnel provision was invalid. (*Ibid.*) Although expressly acknowledging that the outcome adversely affected not only the educational opportunities of students with diabetes but also their health and safety [*see* RT/27], the court nevertheless concluded that the NPA prohibited unlicensed persons from administering medication categorically; that Education Code section 49423 did not authorize unlicensed school personnel to administer insulin to students with diabetes but only to help with self-administration; and that the resulting prohibition against unlicensed school personnel administering insulin to students with diabetes was not preempted by Section 504, the Americans with Disabilities Act, and the IDEA. (MajOpn/5-6) In so concluding, the court noted its agreement with ADA's position as a matter of "public policy." (RT/27) But the court added: "I'm a Judge, I am trying to translate that to the law in terms of what I can do to enforce the law. And so ... if I was in the Legislature you got my vote ...." (*Ibid.*) At the same time, the court noted its disagreement with the Nurses Associations' position: "I will just tell you right now, I think your [*sic*] dead wrong on the policy.... If that bill was before me, I'd sign it. It would be law because it makes sense to me." (RT/33) At the end, however, the court believed that California law diverged from, and trumped, public policy. (RT/55-60)

In 2010, the Court of Appeal for the Third Appellate District affirmed. (MajOpn/1, 2, 39) Like the superior court, the Court of Appeal concluded that the NPA prohibited unlicensed persons from administering medication categorically; that Education Code section

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