In the Supreme Court of the State of California

| AMERICAN NURSES ASSOCIATION et al., | No. S184583 |
|------------------------------------------------------------------------|----------------------------|
| Plaintiffs and Respondents,) | |
| vs. | |
| JACK O'CONNELL, as Superintendant of Public) Education, etc., et al., | SUPREME COURT FILED |
| Defendants and Appellants. | JAN 2 1 2011 |
| AMERICAN DIABETES ASSOCIATION,) | Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk |
| Intervenor and Appellant. | Deputy |

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

This case also calls upon the Court to protect the public's important interest in "bureaucratic responsiveness and public engagement in agency rulemaking." *Morningstar Co. v. State Bd. of Equalization*, 38 Cal.4th 324, 333 (2006). Although the Court of Appeal did not reach the issue, the trial court properly determined that the Legal Advisory, created pursuant to a settlement agreement between private citizens and California Department of Education, among others, which attempted to authorize unlicensed

school personnel to administer insulin, was published in violation of the APA.

The answers to the critical questions posed by this case depend on the proper interpretation of the NPA, Education Code and APA.

Respondents herein will demonstrate that Appellant's proposed interpretations are flawed and should be rejected. The decision of the Court of Appeal should be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The Legal Advisory

Following several failed attempts to pass legislation requiring schools to make available and train unlicensed school personnel to administer insulin² to students with diabetes, Appellant and others filed a class action lawsuit against the California Department of Education, Superintendent of Public Instruction Jack O'Connell (together, "CDE") and others, claiming that California public schools violated the Americans with Disabilities Act, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act (Section 504) and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act ("IDEA") for allegedly failing to ensure that students with diabetes received insulin when they needed it at school. MajOpn/3; Appellant's Appendix ("AA"), vol. 2, at

² These failed attempts to pass legislation were summarized by the Court of Appeal in its majority opinion ("MajOp") at 28-32.

401-402. Ultimately, the case was settled (1AA171-227) and, pursuant to the settlement agreement, CDE issued a "Legal Advisory on the Rights of Students with Diabetes in California's K-12 Schools" ("Legal Advisory"). 1AA202-214.

The Legal Advisory violates established law and contravenes the longstanding public policy of CDE, reflected in its own statutory interpretations and regulations, that unlicensed school personnel do not have legal authority to administer insulin to students. MajOpn/24-28; 2AA483; 7AA1709.

The Legal Advisory summarized the seven classes of individuals who may legally administer insulin in California's schools: (1) the student, with authorization from a licensed health care provider and parent or guardian; (2) a school nurse or school physician; (3) a "licensed school employee (i.e., a registered nurse or a licensed vocational nurse who is supervised by a school physician, school nurse or other appropriate individual)"; (4) a contracted registered nurse or licensed vocational nurse; (5) a parent/guardian who so elects; (6) a parent/guardian designee, "who shall be a volunteer who is not an employee of the LEA"; and (7) an unlicensed voluntary school employee with appropriate training but "only in emergencies as defined by §2727(d) of the NPA (epidemic or public disasters)." MajOpn 4; 2AA488.

The Legal Advisory went further, however, by reversing CDE's longstanding prohibition against unlicensed school staff administering medications. 2AA489. It created a new, non-statutory eighth category of people allegedly authorized to administer insulin to students – unlicensed school employees. 5AA1109. The Legal Advisory provides that, when no school nurse or other licensed person is available to administer insulin to a student with diabetes, federal law authorizes an unlicensed school employees to do so. AppOpBr/11; 1AA18; 5AA1109; *see* MajOpn/4.

There is no dispute that the Legal Advisory was published and implemented by CDE without complying with the requirements of the APA.³ The trial court invalidated the Legal Advisory as an illegal regulation under the APA. 8AA2021.

B. Diabetes and Insulin

Insulin is a medication that can be introduced into the human body only by injection or penetration of human tissue. 1AA259. It is so dangerous and requires such substantial scientific knowledge to safely administer that it has been placed on the Institute for Safe Medicine Practices list of high alert medications. 1AA259; 2AA268. High alert medications are drugs that bear a heightened risk of causing significant

³ CDE, a party to the proceedings below, did raise various excuses for its failure to comply with the APA, which the trial court found to be unpersuasive.

patient harm when they are used in error. 1AA259; 1AA268; 2AA273. The consequences of an error when administering high alert medications "are clearly more devastating to patients" and require "special safeguards to reduce the risk of errors." 1AA268. For these reasons, it is standard practice in hospitals to require registered nurses to follow special procedures before high alert medications, including insulin, are administered. 1AA259; 1AA268; 2AA273.

Managing diabetes requires careful and continual balancing of insulin intake, food, physical condition and physical activity to keep blood glucose levels within the normal range. AppOpBr/5. Blood glucose levels must be regularly monitored, which is accomplished by pricking the skin with a lancet. *Id.* Treatment responses must be monitored because:

high blood glucose levels, or hyperglycemia, can result from too little insulin, too much food or decreased exercise, and can impair cognitive abilities and cause increased thirst, frequent urinary, nausea, blurry vision and fatigue. (3AA717; 6AA1428). Untreated hyperglycemia can cause a life threatening condition caused diabetic ketoacidosis, characterized by labored breathing, weakness, confusion, and sometimes unconsciousness. (3AA/717-18; 6AA/1429). Over time, hyperglycemia leads to serious complications, including heart disease, blindness, kidney failure, and amputation. (6AA/1428)...if not treated promptly, hypoglycemia can cause unconsciousness, seizures and convulsions, and is life threatening. (3AA/717; 6AA/1426).

AppOpBr/4-5. Administering insulin is complicated. 1AA259; 2AA273. It involves more than filling syringe or pushing a button or plunger.

1AA259; 2AA273. It requires an assessment of the patient, including the patient's history and physical condition.⁴ The physical evaluation may include and is not limited to: blood glucose monitoring; an evaluative determination of whether the insulin dose needs to be adjusted for exercise and activity or to match carbohydrate intake; the selection of the correct syringe or familiarity with the appropriate device; selection of the correct form of insulin to avoid a mistake; proper preparation to assure sterility in the procedure; adherence to contamination and infection avoidance techniques; proper procedures to avoid tissue damage; and post administration assessment for adverse reactions. 1AA259; 2AA273-74.

C. Scope of Problem

Only those students who cannot self-administer insulin require someone to administer it to them. Despite Appellant's allegation that "thousands of students" will have to "take their chances with a disease that, when not properly managed, is life-threatening" (AppOpBr/3), the record in this case is conspicuously silent about: (1) how many students in California

⁴ Although Appellant claims that a person administering insulin does not do an assessment (AppOpBr/10), Appellant admits that an assessment, including "regular monitoring of blood glucose levels" is necessary. *Id.* The evidence submitted by Appellant also reveals other assessments that are required, such as "evaluation for signs and symptoms of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia" (3AA635), and constant monitoring of food intake, activity level and insulin levels and determining whether dosage adjustment is necessary. (5AA1151).

are unable to self-administer insulin; (2) the school districts in which they reside; (3) the schools they attend; (4) whether a nurse or other licensed person is available to them; or (5) the number of students to whom another person authorized by existing law is available to administer insulin.⁵

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Soon after the Legal Advisory was published, the American Nurses Association and the American Nurses Association\California filed this action against CDE to prohibit enforcement of the Legal Advisory as an unlawful regulation under the APA, Government Code §§ 11346-11351.

1AA1. The complaint also alleged that CDE exceeded the scope of its rulemaking authority by adopting regulations that are inconsistent with the laws of this state, in violation of Government Code § 1152 and Education

⁵ Respondents call attention to this lack of evidence not because Respondents believe that this case is only important if it affects a large number of students, as Appellant implies. AppOpBr/54-55. Rather, it is relevant to Appellant's preemption argument and determining whether the accommodation Appellant demands is necessary and reasonable. Only students who have a section 504 Plan or an IEP and cannot self-administer insulin that they need during the regular school day require reasonable accommodations to secure their right to a free, appropriate, public education free from discrimination as a result of their disability. "Appellants have not provided any specific facts showing what number of schools have a diabetic student with a section 504 Plan or an IEP that requires insulin administration during the school day or at school-related activities who are unable to self-administer their medication and who do not have a parent or guardian who elects to administer their insulin or designate another family member or friend to administer the child's insulin." MajOpn/36. Therefore, as discussed further, infra, Appellant's preemption argument fails.

Code § 33031. MajOpn/5; 1AA7-8. Specifically, the Complaint alleged that section 8 of the Legal Advisory is inconsistent with the NPA and Education Code. MajOpn/5; 1AA7.

The trial court granted Appellant leave to intervene. MajOpn/5; 1AA36-38. "Subsequently, First and Second Amended Petitions for Writ of Mandate and Complaints for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief were filed adding the California School Nurses Organization and the California Nurses Association as Plaintiffs/Petitioners." MajOpn/5. (Hereafter, all Plaintiffs/Petitioners are referred to as Respondents).

The matter was briefed and, after argument, the trial court entered judgment in favor of Respondents and against Appellants on all legal issues and issued a Writ of Mandate, directing CDE to refrain from implementing or enforcing those portions of the Legal Advisory that authorized unlicensed school personnel to administer insulin and to remove those portions from the Legal Advisory. MajOpn/6; 8AA2021; 8AA2022-23. Although the trial court considered Appellant's policy position, it concluded that only licensed health care professionals or unlicensed persons expressly authorized by statute are permitted to administer insulin to students. MajOpn/5-6; 8AA2019. In so doing, the trial court rejected Appellant's arguments that the Education Code and its implementing regulations authorize unlicensed school personnel to administer insulin when they are not otherwise permitted to do so by statute. MajOpn/6;

8AA2020. The trial court also concluded that federal disability laws do not preempt California law, which "do[es] not conflict with or impede implementation of the federal requirements for the administration of insulin by qualified personnel." MajOpn/6; 8AA2020. "Rather, the statutes identify licensed health care professionals and certain unlicensed persons who are qualified to administer insulin, ruling out any basis for federal preemption." MajOpn/6; 8AA2020.

CDE and ADA appealed. Again, the issues were extensively briefed and argued. The Court of Appeal found in favor of Respondents on all legal issues and affirmed the judgment of the trial court. MajOpn/2.

Specifically, the Court of Appeal determined:

- 1. The NPA "affirmatively restricts unlicensed persons from performing the functions of a licensed nurse." MajOpn/9 (rejecting Appellant's argument that the NPA "provides that only a registered nurse may engage in the practice of registered nursing as a professional registered nurse." Id.).
- 2. "The injection of insulin into diabetic students...fall[s] within the "administration of medications"—a practice of nursing." MajOpn/12.
- 3. "[T]he Legislature's authorization of student self-administration of insulin (Ed. Code, § 49414.5, subd. (c)), the administration of insulin to foster children (Health and Saf. Code, § 1507.25, subd. (b)), and the administration of injection by licensed

vocational nurses (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 2860.5, subd. (a)" are manifestations of "the Legislature's decision to except these situations from the prohibition of the practice of nursing generally found in section 2725 [of the NPA]." MajOpn/16.

- 4. "The exception of section 2727 subdivision (e) [of the NPA], does not permit unlicensed school personnel to administer medications, including insulin, even though the student may have a prescription for those medications from his or her doctor." MajOpn/20.
- 5. The word "assist" in Education Code section 49423 means to help "in whatever way is legally permitted by the specific individual who is doing the assisting." MajOpn/22.
- 6. The word "assist" in Education Code section 49423 recognizes that licensed health care professionals may legally administer medications to students but only authorizes unlicensed school employees to help students in ways that "would not normally include the administration of medications." MajOpn/24.
- 7. "[W]hen viewed as a whole, the legislature's affirmative enactments do suggest that the legislature has seen fit to authorize the administration of only a limited number of medications in limited situations to students by unlicensed school personnel." MajOpn/32.
- 8. "[Education Code] section 49423 does not authorize unlicensed school personnel to administer the insulin injections that

diabetic students may require pursuant to a section 504 plan or IEP." MajOpn/32.

- 9. "California's legislative choice to protect the health and safety of the state's children who suffer from diabetes by limiting the administration of insulin injections at school to licensed individuals or expressly authorized individuals is an exercise of the state's traditional police power that triggers the presumption against preemption." MajOpn/34.
- 10. "California law does not frustrate or stand as an obstacle to the purposes of the federal law in assuring students with disabilities free appropriate public education because schools can comply with both the federal law and the California law." MajOpn/38.
- 11. "[S]ection 8 of the CDE's Legal Advisory...is invalid." MajOpn/39.

Appellant filed a petition for rehearing, which was denied.

Thereafter, Appellant filed its Petition for Review, 6 which was granted.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law subject to de novo review on appeal. *Kavanaugh v. West Sonoma County Union High School District*, 29 Cal.4th 911, 916 (2003).

⁶ CDE did not file a petition for review.

An appellate court defers to a trial court's factual determinations if supported by substantial evidence. *Id.* However, in this case, Appellant has conceded that any "evidentiary conflict is irrelevant." MajOpn/14.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeal properly interpreted the NPA to prohibit individuals who are not licensed health care professionals from administering medication, a nursing function within the plain language of section 2725(b)(2) of the NPA. Accordingly, the Court of Appeal concluded, unlicensed school personnel may not administer medication to students without violating the Nursing Practice Act, unless they are otherwise authorized to do so by statute. Appellant's assertion that the medical orders exception to the NPA should apply to authorize unlicensed school personnel to administer insulin is flawed and the Court of Appeal properly rejected it.⁷

Likewise, neither the Education Code nor any other California statute authorizes unlicensed school employees to administer insulin.

Appellant's proposed contrary interpretations of the law are incorrect and were also properly rejected by the Court of Appeal. However, as the Court of Appeal correctly concluded, the prohibition against the administration of

⁷ Appellant has abandoned its arguments that other exceptions to the NPA apply.

insulin to students by unlicensed school employees does not conflict with or frustrate the purpose of federal disability laws, because it is possible to comply with *both* state law and federal law. Indeed, California law provides suitable means to accommodate students with diabetes who need insulin at school, thereby avoiding preemption.

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